### THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00071

**ROBIN LEE VO** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# CIVIL APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT, ROBIN LEE VO

### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Counsel for Appellant

CHAD P. YOUNGBLOOD, LA BAR #

Admitted pro hac vice, MS Bar

7611 Maple Street, Suite C

New Orleans, Louisiana 70118

Telephone: 504.864.0111 Telecopier: 504.864.0009

MICHAEL E. COX, MS BAR#

MICHAEL E. COX & ASSOCIATES

Post Office Box 4908

Biloxi, Mississippi 39535

Telephone: 228.388.2626

Telecopier: 228.388.2594

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00071

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Three issues are presented for appeal.

- 1. The trial court was in error in granting the defendant's (appellee) motion for summary judgment;
- 2. That the defendant (appellee) failed to meet the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact existed in this case;
- 3. That the trial court was in error in failing to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiff (appellant), the non-moving party;
- 4. That the trial court erred in finding that the defendant (appellee) was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law; and
- 5. That the trial court erred in finding that, as a matter of law, a police officer's failure to look before backing up was mere negligence and not reckless disregard.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. <u>Procedural History</u>.

On or about July 6, 2004, Robin Lee Vo (Vo) brought suit against Hancock County, Mississippi (hereinafter "Hancock County") alleging reckless disregard in the actions of Hancock County Sheriff's Deputy Christopher M. Russell (Deputy Russell). which resulted in a collision, injuring the plaintiff. (R.3-7). Litigation proceeded until October 17, 2005, when the defendant opposed plaintiff's Louisiana counsel's Motion to Enroll Pro Hac Vice, while simultaneously moving the Court to require plaintiff and her counsel to execute affidavits pursuant to § 97-9-11 et. seq., of the Mississippi Code, Annotated, (Supp. 1998). On or about January 12, 2006, defendant moved for a hearing on plaintiff's motion to enroll pro hac vice. A hearing on that matter was held on January 27, 2006, wherein the Court denied plaintiff's motion to enroll pro hac vice. The Court also denied defendant's motion to require plaintiff and her counsel to execute affidavits. During the limited time that litigation proceeded a small amount of discovery was conducted, including the deposition of plaintiff Vo. (R.276-327). The deposition of Deputy Russell, although sought, was never had. (Exhibit "A") On May 8, 2006, defendant Hancock County filed its motion for summary judgment and memorandum in support thereof. (R.202-234). Plaintiff Vo filed her opposition to Hancock County's summary judgment. (R.235-264). On December 7, 2006, the Circuit Court of Hancock County issued its judgment, granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. (R.265-266). It is from that judgment that plaintiff Robin Lee Vo now takes this appeal.

### 2. Facts.

On or about July 8, 2003, Hancock County Sheriff's Deputy Christopher M. Russell – without first looking for oncoming traffic - backed his vehicle from a parking space into traffic at 10 Bay Park Drive, where it intersects with Longfellow Road in Bay St. Louis, Mississippi. (R.217-228), (R.234). The resultant collision between Deputy Russell's vehicle and the vehicle of plaintiff Robin Vo, caused significant damage and injury to Vo. Plaintiff Vo incurred more than \$40,000.00 in medical costs from her injuries. (R.118-142). Due to the limited amount of discovery completed in this matter, it is unclear if Deputy Russell was in the course and scope of his employment, or whether he was on a frolic and detour. Plaintiff was never given the opportunity to depose Deputy Russell.

Plaintiff filed her Complaint on July 6, 2004, alleging that Deputy Russell's failure to observe and failure to attempt to observe oncoming traffic, constituted reckless disregard for the safety and wellbeing of the citizens of Hancock County. Subsequently the trial court dismissed her claim after granting defendant's motion for summary judgment.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court should not have granted defendant Hancock County's motion for summary judgment. Mississippi courts have long held that summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism. Mississippi courts have also stated, that with regard to summary judgment, the evidence should be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Should there be an error in judging the disputed facts, Mississippi Courts maintain it is better to err on the side of denying the motion, and thus allowing all facts and allegations to come to light.

The trial court erred in granting Hancock County's motion for summary judgment where discovery had hardly commenced. The only discovery completed in this matter, is the deposition of plaintiff Robin Lee Vo, which was more a character ambush than a fact-finding interrogation. Although it has been sought again and again, the deposition of Hancock County Sheriff's Deputy Christopher Russell has not been allowed by defense counsel. Surly, this summary judgment should not have been granted.

There was hardly enough evidence to make a fair ruling on Hancock County's summary judgment when its own employee who caused the accident was never examined under oath. Indeed Deputy Russell is an officer of the law, but this hardly exempts him from such an examination. His examination is fundamental to the adversarial process.

It is well settled that for a motion for summary judgment to succeed, the moving party must meet the burden to show that there is no disputed issue of material fact. Defendant Hancock County offered nothing to prove that Deputy Russell acted with prudence on any level. Whether to remove him from under the cloud of garden variety

negligence, or that darker cloud of reckless disregard, defendant Hancock County has offered nothing to suggest Deputy Russell acted with any degree of prudence at all.

Additionally, defendant Hancock County has revealed nothing to indicate exactly what Deputy Russell was doing at the time of the incident. Plaintiff has been unable to discover if Deputy Russell was responding to a call, finishing a call, or just simply running an errand. These very important facts have not come to light because Deputy Russell has never submitted to an examination under oath. These facts are key to whether Deputy Russell was in the course and scope of his employment, which in turn is key to determining the degree of prudence with which Deputy Russell should have offered.

There are many unanswered questions to which plaintiff Vo is entitled to have answers. It was error to grant defendant's summary judgment without allowing further discovery. Deputy Russell stated at the scene that the accident was his fault, yet the plaintiff has never had the opportunity to question his about that statement.

This Court has refused summary judgment where a party provides a valid, good faith reason for further discovery. Plaintiff Vo's valid and good faith reason for further discovery is simple: discovery was sought, but never allowed by defense counsel.

Finally, it is Plaintiff's position that when a person backs an automobile out of a parking spot and into oncoming traffic, this alone is reckless disregard. Plaintiff contends it matters not under what circumstances a person would engage in such a dangerous act, it is, nonetheless, reckless disregard. The facts of this case are very similar to several Mississippi Tort Claims Act cases before it, and in many of this Court found reckless disregard.

It was error for the trial court to grant summary judgment without allowing further discovery. It was error for the trial court to grant summary judgment as a matter of law. It was error for the trial court to make a finding that Deputy Russell's lack of prudence was anything less than reckless disregard.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### I.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE DEFENDANT HANCOCK COUNTY FAILED TO MEET THE EXACTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD.

A party seeking summary judgment must meet an exacting standard, and the motion can only be granted where 1) there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute; and 2) the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter or law. *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure* 56(c). A motion for summary judgment lies only when there is no genuine issue of material fact; summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues. Accordingly, the court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determine whether there are issues to be tried. In the present case, the trial court based its findings on facts it found in a light most favorable to the defendant, which is clearly not the way summary judgment is supposed to operate.

In its Judgment, the trial court acknowledges a major disputed issue. That issue is determinative of what level of prudence or disregard with which Deputy Russell acted. The trial court wrote "Vo alleged that the officer failed to look 'both ways' before backing out which raises negligence into reckless disregard. A review of the police report only states that the officer looked to the left." (R.265-266, Judgment of Dismissal). Although it acknowledges this disputed issue, the trial court proceeded to grant the summary judgment.

This Court has consistently held "that in cases involving summary judgment if there is doubt as to whether or not a fact issue exists, it should be resolved in favor of the non-moving party." Southerland v. Ritter, --So.2d---, 2007 WL 1151833 (Miss. 2007), citing Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co. v. Berry, 669 So.2d 56, 70 (Miss. 1996), citing Ratliff v. Ratliff.

500 So.2d 981, 981 (Miss. 1986). Clearly, the trial court did not follow this long held rule of law in the present case, where there are multiple issues of disputed fact.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE PLAINTIFF PRESENTED A VALID, GOOD FAITH REASON FOR FURTHER DISCOVERY.

Additional disputed facts that were overlooked include the actual location of the accident, which certainly bears on what level of prudence Deputy Russell should have observed. It is disputed whether the accident occurred in a parking lot or on an open and public roadway. The police report makes this issue clear, yet the defendant's itemization of facts states that the accident occurred in a parking lot. This is certainly an issue that Deputy Russell could have addressed in a deposition.

Defendant also asserted that "The accident report shows that Officer Russell maintained a proper lookout." (R.217-228, defendant's itemization of facts). Plaintiff Vo never had the opportunity to examine Deputy Russell on this disputed and misleading allegation. The police accident report and plaintiff Vo's statement do not support this allegation, and thus, it is certainly a genuine issue of disputed fact.

Defendant asserted that "There is no evidence that Officer Russell acted with reckless disregard." (R.217-228, defendant's itemization of facts). Again, Deputy Russell was never examined on this issue. Plaintiff Vo contends that the fact the accident occurred at all should at least give rise to a legitimate dispute of that issue. Vo was never allowed to determine what Deputy Russell's status was at the time of the incident. It remains unclear if he was onduty or if he was not.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f) allows that summary judgment should be avoided if there is a valid, good faith reason for further discovery. The premise of Rule 56(f)

is that completion of needed discovery may aid the court in its determination of whether there is a genuine issue of material fact. *Trotter v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 865 So. 2d 411, 417 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). The court should refuse summary judgment if the party provides a valid, good faith reason for further discovery.

Plaintiff Vo argued that much needed discovery was not completed in this case and that as such, the case was not appropriate for summary judgment. Plaintiff never had the opportunity to depose Deputy Russell. The facts to be gathered from the deposition of Deputy Russell are crucial to the trier of fact because adversarial questions and answers about his actions, inactions, omissions and commissions related to the operation of his vehicle, are central to the issue of his reckless disregard or his prudence.

Further, the plaintiff never had an opportunity to question Deputy Russell regarding his state of mind at the time of the accident; his intentions and directions at the time of the accident, whether he was responding to an emergency at the time of the accident or how fast he was traveling when he struck plaintiff Vo's vehicle.

The deposition of Deputy Russell was first scheduled June 1, 2005. However, that deposition was not had. The plaintiff Re-Noticed Officer Russell's deposition for June 23, 2005. Before the deposition was taken, plaintiff's counsel indicated that he was withdrawing from the case on May 27, 2005. On June 23, 2005 this court issued the Order allowing the withdrawal. Plaintiff then had to find new Mississippi counsel and did so on July 25, 2005. However that counsel enrolled at that time for the limited purpose of sponsoring Louisiana counsel in an application *pro hac vice*.

In August 2005, Hurricane Katrina stuck the Gulf Coast. In the aftermath of Katrina, Plaintiff's Louisiana counsel filed his application *pro hac vice*, which was ultimately denied

in March 2006, but not without first bringing the case to a stand-still during the time that issue was decided and several motions to bloc the pro hac application were made by the defendant. Once the *pro hac* motion was denied, defense counsel filed the current Motion for Summary Judgment. All the while, the Plaintiff sought to take the deposition of Deputy Russell as evidenced in correspondence to defense counsel. (Exhibit "A") (The documents attached hereto as Exhibit "A" were originally an exhibit to plaintiff's opposition to summary judgment, however, for a reason unknown to plaintiff/appellant, these documents were not made part of the record.)

Plaintiff does not allege that defense counsel has hidden Deputy Russell. Plaintiff merely alleges that circumstances and procedural matters have prevented the deposition from being had. Indeed, defense counsel also had problems locating Deputy Russell and had to amend its Motion for Summary Judgment and Itemization to include an affidavit by Deputy Russell, only after he was located and tracked down to sign it as late as July 31, 2006.

Because the Plaintiff has not had an opportunity to depose Officer Russell, this case was not appropriate for summary judgment.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE PLAINTIFF SHOWED THE DEFENDANT'S ACTIONS WERE IN RECKLESS DISREGARD FOR THE SAFETY OF OTHERS

Defendant Hancock County's motion for summary judgment turns on material facts that if believed bring Deputy Russell's actions down to a level or negligence less than reckless disregard. Plaintiff Vo argues that these material facts in controversy are the center of this dispute and that because they are material facts in dispute, they must be left to the trier of fact and cannot be properly disposed of by summary judgment.

Primarily, the defendant argued that Deputy Russell did not act with reckless disregard when he backed out of his parking spot and into a public and busy throughway. However, defendant offers nothing to prove that Deputy Russell acted with prudence. The police report (R.212-213, Police Report) states that Officer Russell looked to his left, but it is silent on whether he also looked to his right. Plaintiff Vo was traveling toward Officer Russell from his right. This fact is material because the level of prudence and caution of Deputy Russell is determinative of whether he acted with reckless disregard.

Incidentally, long before Deputy Russell swore out his affidavit, plaintiff Vo submitted to a recorded statement, under oath, by the defendant's insurance adjuster. In that statement plaintiff Vo said that Deputy Russell failed to look in any direction. She stated that Deputy Russell backed out and into her vehicle without looking. She went on to tell the adjuster; "He didn't look. He even admitted when he got out that it was his fault, he done that. He hadn't looked." (R.247-248, Affidavit of Robin Lee Vo), (R.250-255 the Recorded Statement of Robin Lee Vo)

These two very different accounts of how the incident happened - one by the defendant and one by the plaintiff – certainly shows two things: 1) There is a genuine issue of material fact in dispute, and 2) Deputy Russell should have submitted to a deposition prior to any ruling on defendant Hancock County's motion for summary judgment.

In a case with facts almost exact to this case, the Supreme Court of Mississippi held a deputy in reckless disregard when he looked but failed to obtain a clear view of the throughway into which he backed, whereupon he struck another vehicle and injured the driver. Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So.2d 391 (Miss. 1999). In that case, the court held

that even if the deputy looked, but his view was obstructed, it was reckless disregard for him to continue to back his car where he could not see.

Evidence presented at trial showed [Deputy] Collier backed his car up an incline, blocking traffic turning into the parking lot from the road... Although [Deputy] Collier testified that he checked his mirrors before backing up, he also stated he could not see approaching traffic just by using his mirrors. ... In short, without being able to see, [Deputy] Collier backed up and blocked an entrance... These actions are not the same as just backing out of a parking space as [Deputy] Collier suggests in his brief.

Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So. 2d 391, 394 (Miss. 1999)

The facts in *Maye* are almost the exact facts of this case, except in *Maye* the deputy *at least attempted to look*, although he acknowledged that looking was not enough. In the case at hand, Deputy Russell cannot even say that he looked to his left *and* to his right. Indeed, the police report and his affidavit do not state that he looked to his right. It was from the right that Plaintiff Vo was traveling, and if he had looked his view would have been unobstructed as there were no cars parked to his right in any of the parking spaces. (R.212-213, Police Report).

In Maye, the Court went on to hold; "Collier did not just carelessly back out of a space. With conscious indifference to the consequences, he backed out knowing he could not see what was behind him. This Court has held 'wantonness is a failure or refusal to exercise any care, while negligence is a failure to exercise due care" Id at 395. emphasis added.

The Court went on to hold:

When Collier backed out of the parking space and up the incline, he did not know what was behind him. He knew he could not see cars coming into the lot and he knew checking his mirrors would not let him see cars pulling into the lot. ... These actions rise above simple negligence to the level of reckless disregard of the safety and well-being of others. For this reason the County and Collier *are not immune* from suit under the Act.

Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So. 2d 391, 395 (Miss. 1999) emphasis added.

If the Court in *Maye* held that looking but failing to have a clear view was indeed reckless disregard on the part of Collier and Pearl River County, then certainly it should follow that it is reckless disregard for Deputy Russell to not even look to his right - the direction the plaintiff was traveling - before he backed out and stuck her vehicle, damaging it and injuring her.

Further, as the Court has held in *Turner*, as to immunity and reckless disregard, it does not matter whether Deputy Russell *intended* to harm plaintiff Vo. The *Turner* Court has held that intent is not an element of reckless disregard. "[T]he circuit court was manifestly in error in requiring Turner to allege or establish that Officer Bradshaw intended to cause harm to Turner. *Turner v. City of Ruleville*, 735 So. 2d 226, 229 (Miss. 1999).

Concluding with the disputed facts, the plaintiff asserts that Deputy Russell failed to maintain a proper lookout by failing to look to his right to observe oncoming traffic and that he failed to exercise due care and that he acted with reckless disregard by backing, without looking in both directions, into a busy public throughway. Plaintiff asserts that Deputy Russell's failure to look to his right where he would have had a clear view of oncoming traffic was an even greater act of reckless disregard than those actions of Deputy Collier in the *Maye* case, because at least in *Maye* Deputy Collier attempted look although he could not see.

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