## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00071

**ROBIN LEE VO** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE, HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE: HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

WALTER W. DUKES (MSB No. AMANDA M. SCHWARTZ (MSB No. DUKES, DUKES, KEATING & FANECA, P.A. Post Office Drawer W Gulfport, Mississippi 39502 Telephone: 228-868-1111 Facsimile: 228-863-2886

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00071

ROBIN LEE VO APPELLANT

VS.

#### HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

4.	Statement of the Issues				
5.	Statement of the Case				
6.	Summary of the Argument				
7.	Argument4				
	I.	THA FAC	T THE	THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED RE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL ARDING DEPUTY RUSSELL'S CONDUCT MOUNTING TO RECKLESS DISREGARD	
		A.	STA	NDARD OF REVIEW4	
		B.	LEG	AL ARGUMENT5	
			1.	Deputy Russell's conduct at the time of the accident did not rise to a level of reckless disregard	
			2.	While issues of fact may exist in this case, there is not one genuine issue of material fact that will defeat Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment	
			3.	The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment even though Deputy Russell had not been deposed	
	П.	THE MISS COU	MISSIS S. COD ONTY IN	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT SSIPPI TORT CLAIMS ACT, CODIFIED AT E ANN. §11-46-1 <i>ET SEQ</i> . PROVIDES HANCOCK MMUNITY FROM SUIT THEREBY ENTITLING IT ENT AS A MATTER OF LAW	
8.	Conc	lusion			
9.	Certi	Certificate			

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc., 444 So. 2d 358 (Miss. 1983)
City of Jackson v. Brister, 838 So. 2d 274 (Miss. 2003)
City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So. 2d 373 (Miss. 2000)
City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977 (Miss. 2001)
Davis v. Latch, et al., 873 So. 2d 1059 (Miss. 2004)
Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, 519 So. 2d 413 (Miss. 1988) 5, 11
Joseph v. City of Moss Point, 856 So. 2d 548 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
Maldonado, v. Kelly, 768 So. 2d 906 (Miss. 2000)
Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So. 2d 391 (Miss. 1999)
McGrath v. City of Gautier, 794 So. 2d 983 (Miss. 2001)
Miss. Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Durn, 861 So. 2d 990 (Miss. 2003) 6, 10
Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Garriga, 636 So. 2d 658 (Miss. 1994)
Owens v. Thomas, 759 So. 2d 1117 (Miss. 1999)
Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc., 564 So. 2d 1346 (Miss. 1990)
Saucier v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., 708 So. 2d 1351 (Miss. 1998)
Shaw v. Birchfield, 481 So. 2d 247 (Miss. 1985)
Terrell v. Rankin, 511 So. 2d 126 (Miss. 1987)
Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert, 616 So. 2d 333 (Miss. 1993)
Turner v. City of Ruleville, 735 So. 2d 226 (Miss. 1999)
Van v. Grand Casinos of Miss., Inc., 767 So. 2d 1014 (Miss. 2000)
Webster v. Miss. Publishers Corp. 571 So. 2d 946 (Miss. 1990)

Willing v. Estate of Richard Benz, No. 2005-CA-00470-COA, 2007 Miss. App.  LEXIS 191 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
<u>Statutes</u>
Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-1, et. seq vi, 1, 4, 5, 15
Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-5(2)
Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-7(2)
Mississippi Code Annotated §11-46-9
Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-9(1)(c)
Mississippi Code Annotated §11-1-65(1)(a)
Rules
Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 10(b)(4)
Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(3)
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 56(c)
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 56(e)
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 56(f)

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether the trial court correctly ruled that there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding Deputy Russell's conduct as not amounting to reckless disregard.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, codified at Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-1 et seq. provides Hancock County immunity from suit thereby entitling it to judgment as a matter of law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 2004, Plaintiff filed this action pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-1, et. seq. against Hancock County, ("the County"), alleging that on July 8, 2003, Christopher Russell ("Deputy Russell"), a deputy with the Hancock County Sheriff's Department, while acting within the course and scope of said employment, acted with reckless disregard when he backed out of a parking space at Blue Meadow Apartments in Bay St. Louis, Mississippi, and struck Plaintiff's vehicle. (Record, herein "R.," 3-7); (County's Record Excerpts, herein "R.E.," 3-7). Plaintiff alleges that Deputy Russell failed to look for approaching traffic before entering the roadway. (R. 4); (R.E. 4). In response to an Interrogatory requesting that Plaintiff describe the accident, Plaintiff simply refers to the Mississippi Uniform Accident Report, which describes the accident as follows:

Driver of vehicle (1) [Russell] stated his [sic] was backing up from a parked position. Looked left. Continued to back and collided with vehicle (2). Driver vehicle (2) [Vo] stated she was driving through the parking lot and her vehicle was hit by vehicle (1).

(R. 235, 243-44); (R.E. 36, 44-45). The diagram/narrative continuation attached to the Accident Report shows how vehicle "1" simply backed from a parked place in the parking lot of the apartment complex. (R. 243-44); (R.E. 44-45). In his affidavit, Deputy Russell states that he remembers looking to the left prior to pulling his vehicle out of the parking space but cannot definitively state that he looked to the right, although to do so would have been consistent with his normal routine. (R. 227-28); (R.E. 34-35). In Plaintiff's recorded statement, she states that her vehicle was traveling at or below five miles per hour at the time of impact. (R. 254); (R.E. 55).

Deputy Russell's and Plaintiff's depositions were originally scheduled for June 1, 2005; however, due to Plaintiff's original counsel's own scheduling conflict, the depositions were postponed and re-noticed for June 23, 2005. See Exhibit "A" to Brief of Appellant. On June 23, 2005, Plaintiff's deposition commenced but was terminated prematurely when Plaintiff's counsel was compellted to withdraw from the case due to a potential and unanticipated conflict. (R. 323-26); (R.E. 119-122). Therefore, Deputy Russell was not deposed, and the parties spent the next eight months in a dispute over whether Plaintiff's foreign attorney should be admitted *Pro Hac Vice*. By opinion and order dated March 13, 2006, the Court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Enroll Foreign Attorney *Pro Hac Vice*. (R. 196-201); (R.E. 8-13).

On May 8, 2006, the County moved for summary judgment on the ground that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether Deputy Russell's conduct rose to the level of reckless disregard. (R. 202-16); (R.E. 14-28). Plaintiff opposed the motion, arguing that issues of fact were present. (R. 240-64); (R.E. 41-65). On December 7, 2006, the Court found as follows:

Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that Officer Russell backed into the roadway with reckless disregard. Even if there is a genuine issue of fact as to whether Officer Russell failed to 'look both ways', there is nothing which cre creates an issue of reckless disregard. The facts presented create nothing more than issues of simple negligence and Hancock County and its employee are immune from such claims.

(emphasis added) (R. 266); (R.E. 67). Accordingly, the Court granted the County's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal from the Order granting the motion for summary judgment on January 5, 2007. (R. 267); (R.E. 68). Plaintiff did not file a Statement of the Issues in accordance with Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 10(b)(4), but designated the record on January 5, 2007, as follows:

- 1. The Complaint
- 2. The Answer and Defenses
- 3. All other pleadings, including all motions
- 4. All memoranda
- 5. Certified copy of the Judgment

(R. 269); (R.E. 70). Due to Plaintiff's failure to submit a Statement of the Issues on Appeal, the County filed a Supplemental Designation of the Record, designating Plaintiff's Answers to Interrogatories, Plaintiff's Deposition, Defendant's Itemization of Facts and Amended Itemization of Facts, Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Exhibits attached thereto, along with Memorandum Brief of Defendant in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and the transcript from the hearing on Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 271); (R.E. 71).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

There is no evidence before the Court that Deputy Russell acted with reckless disregard for the safety of others when he backed his law enforcement vehicle out of its parking spot at Blue Meadow Apartments prior to striking Plaintiff's vehicle. In particular, there is no evidence that Deputy Russell was speeding, distracted or otherwise improperly driving his vehicle prior to the accident. There is also no evidence that prior to pulling out of the parking spot, Deputy Russell knew that Plaintiff's vehicle was behind him. While Plaintiff argues that summary judgment was inapproprate because Deputy Russell had not been deposed, the reality is that no amount of discovery would show that Deputy Russell acted with reckless disregard. Even if Deputy Russell failed to look in both directions before pulling out of the parking space, as the lower court noted, his actions were merely negligent and were not of such a nature as to indicate

an indifference to the consequences that followed. While there may be issues of fact in this case, there is not one genuine issue of "material" fact. Therefore, the County is entitled to retain its immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, as codified at §11-46-1 et seq. of the Mississippi of 1972, as Amended (herein "Miss. Code Ann."), and the trial court ruling should be affirmed.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REGARDING DEPUTY RUSSELL'S CONDUCT AS NOT AMOUNTING TO RECKLESS DISREGARD.

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts employ a *de novo* standard of review when reviewing a lower court's grant of summary judgment. *See Saucier v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 708 So. 2d 1351, 1354 (Miss. 1998). Therefore, our appellate courts decide whether there is a genuine issue of material fact, and if not, whether the legal conclusions drawn from the undisputed facts are correct. *See Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert*, 616 So. 2d 333, 335 (Miss. 1993).

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). A party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a material fact. *Van v. Grand Casinos of Miss.*, *Inc.*, 767 So. 2d 1014, 1017-18 (Miss. 2000). Once a motion for summary judgment is made and properly supported, the non-movant must "go beyond the pleadings and designate specific facts showing [a] genuine issue for trial." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e); *Brown v. Credit Ctr., Inc.*, 444 So. 2d 358, 364 (Miss. 1983); *Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 564 So. 2d 1346, 1356 (Miss. 1990).

When a motion for summary judgment is made, "the burden of production rests on the party who, at trial, would have the burden of proof on that issue." Webster v. Miss. Publishers Corp., 571 So. 2d 946, 948-49 (Miss. 1990). The Court can grant summary judgment only where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant, the movant establishes there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co. v. Garriga, 636 So. 2d 658, 661 (Miss. 1994). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that, "in order for summary judgment to be inappropriate, there must be genuine issues of material fact; the existence of a hundred contested issues of fact will not thwart summary judgment where none of them is material." Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post, No. 4057, 519 So. 2d 413, 415 (Miss. 1988) (citing Shaw v. Birchfield, 481 So. 2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985)).

#### B. LEGAL ARGUMENT

1. Deputy Russell's conduct at the time of the accident did not rise to a level of reckless disregard.

The Mississippi Tort Claims Act, codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-1 et seq. ("MTCA") is the exclusive route for filing suit against a governmental entity and its employees. See City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977 (Miss. 2001). A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment are free of liability for a claim based upon any of the acts or omissions enumerated therein as excepting to the waiver of sovereign immunity. Id. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 provides, in pertinent part:

A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:

... arising out of any act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity engaged in the performance or execution of duties or activities relating to police or fire protection unless the employee acted in reckless

# disregard of the safety and well-being of any person not engaged in criminal activity at the time of the injury . . . .

(emphasis added). The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "apparent in the language [of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-9] is that those officers who act within the course and scope of their employment, while engaged in the performance of duties relating to police protection, without reckless disregard for the safety and well being of others, will be entitled to immunity." *City of Jackson v. Brister*, 838 So. 2d 274, 278 (Miss. 2003) (citing *McGrath v. City of Gautier*, 794 So. 2d 983, 985 (Miss. 2001)). Plaintiff has the burden of proving reckless disregard by a preponderance of the evidence. *See Willing v. Estate of Richard Benz*, No. 2005-CA-00470-COA, 2007 Miss. App. LEXIS 191, \*14 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

The controlling case law on the subject of reckless disregard is clearly established.

Reckless disregard is more than ordinary negligence, but less than an intentional act. *See Brister*, 838 So. 2d at 280. This Court has further defined "reckless disregard" as the voluntary doing of an improper or wrongful act, with" heedless indifference to results which may follow and the reckless taking of chance of an accident happening." *See Davis v. Latch, et al.*, 873 So. 2d 1059, 1061 (Miss. 2004). Reckless disregard is a higher standard than gross negligence by which to judge the conduct of others. *See Miss. Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Durn*, 861 So. 2d 990, 994 (Miss. 2003).

In the context of the statute, reckless must connote "wanton or willful," because immunity lies for negligence. *Id.* at 994-95. This Court has held that "wanton" and "reckless disregard" are just a step below specific intent in that "reckless disregard" embraces willful or wanton conduct which requires knowingly and intentionally doing a thing or wrongful act. *Id.* "The terms 'willful', 'wanton', and 'reckless' have been applied to that degree of fault which lies

between intent to do wrong and the mere reasonable risk of harm involved in ordinary negligence." *Maldonado*, v. *Kelly*, 768 So. 2d 906, 910-11 (Miss. 2000). The conduct must be so far from a proper state of mind that it is treated in many respects as if harm was intended." *Id*.

Further, "reckless disregard has consistently been found where the conduct at issue demonstrated that the actor appreciated the unreasonable risk at stake and deliberately disregarded 'that risk and the high probability of harm involved." Id. This Court has held that the common thread running among the cases where reckless disregard was found is "an appreciation of the unreasonable risk of danger involved coupled with a conscious indifference to the consequences that were certain to follow." See Davis, 873 So. 2d at 1062; see generally City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So. 2d 373, 378 (Miss. 2000) (finding reckless disregard when police officer was speeding without purpose but not using lights or siren); Maye v. Pearl River County, 758 So. 2d 391, 395 (Miss. 1999) (finding reckless disregard because police officer backed out of a parking space with a blind spot and "[knew] he could not be sure the area was clear"); Turner v. City of Ruleville, 735 So. 2d 226, 230 (Miss. 1999) (finding reckless disregard when officer pulled over a driver who was visibly intoxicated but allowed the driver to continue driving); compare Joseph v. City of Moss Point, 856 So. 2d 548 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (summary judgment appropriate because officer guilty only of simple negligence when he moved forward in his lane while reading a warrant and without confirming that the traffic in his lane was moving); Maldonado, 768 So. 2d at 911 (finding no indication that officer acted with deliberate disregard to the consequences of attempting to cross an intersection after stopping and looking both ways).

In Willing v. Estate of Richard Benz, the Mississippi Court of Appeals developed a framework which a plaintiff must follow in order to prove that an officer acted with reckless disregard. The Willing Court, supra, held that in order to establish "reckless disregard," a

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